

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Egert, Balázs; Backé, Peter; Zumer, Tina

Working Paper Credit growth in Central and Eastern Europe: new (over)shooting stars?

ECB Working Paper, No. 687

Provided in Cooperation with: European Central Bank (ECB)

Suggested Citation: Egert, Balázs; Backé, Peter; Zumer, Tina (2006) : Credit growth in Central and Eastern Europe: new (over)shooting stars?, ECB Working Paper, No. 687, European Central Bank (ECB), Frankfurt a. M.

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/153121

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 687 / OCTOBER 2006

CREDIT GROWTH IN CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPE

NEW (OVER)SHOOTING STARS?

by Balázs Égert, Peter Backé and Tina Zumer



WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO 687 / OCTOBER 2006

CREDIT GROWTH IN CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPE'

NEW (OVER)SHOOTING STARS?

by Balázs Égert², Peter Backé³ and Tina Zumer⁴

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=936896

I The paper benefited from discussion at seminars held at the Oesterreichische Nationalbank, the Banco de España and at DG ECFIN (European Commission). We are especially indebted to Ronald Albers, Kalin Hristov, Dubravko Mihaljek, Max Watson and six anonymous referees for stimulating and useful comments. We are also indebted to Caralee McLiesh for sharing with us the dataset used in the paper "Private credit in 129 countries" (NBER Working Paper No. 11078), to Ivanna Vladkova-Hollar for providing us with the financial liberalization indicator, to Gergő Kiss for sharing data on housing prices in Hungary, and to Rafal Kierzenkowski, Lubos Komárek, Mindaugas Leika and Peeter Luikmel for help in obtaining housing prices for France, the Czech Republic, Lithuania and Estonia, respectively. We also thank Steven Fries and Tatiana Lysenko for the EBRD transition indicators going back to the early 1990s and Rena Mühldorf for language advice. The opinions expressed in this paper do not necessarily represent the views of the European Central Bank, the Oesterreichische Nationalbank or the European System of Central Banks (ESCB).

2 Oesterreichische Nationalbank; EconomiX at the University of Paris X-Nanterre and William Davidson Institute. e-mail: balazs.egert@oenb.at and begert@u-baris10.fr

3 Oesterreichische Nationalbank, e-mail: peter.backe@oenb.at

4 European Central Bank, e-mail: tina.zumer@ecb.int



publications feature a motif taken from the €5 banknote.





© European Central Bank, 2006

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.int

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

Telex 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.int.

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

Abstract									
No	n-tec	chnical summary	5						
1	Intro	oduction	7						
2	Some stylized facts								
3	The equilibrium level of private credit								
	3.1 Literature overview								
	3.2 Initial under- and overshooting in transition economies								
	3.3 The consequences of an initial under- or overshooting								
	3.4	The empirical literature on transition economies	14						
4	Eco	Economic and econometric specifications							
	4.1	The empirical model	16						
	4.2	Estimation methods	19						
5	Resi	ults	20						
	5.1	Estimation results	20						
	5.2	Deviations from the estimated							
		equilibrium levels	25						
6	Conclusion								
7	References 30								
8	Appendices 33								
European Central Bank Working Paper Series 38									

Þ

Abstract

This paper analyzes the equilibrium level of private credit to GDP in 11 Central and Eastern European countries in order to see whether the high credit growth recently observed in some of these countries led to above equilibrium private credit-to-GDP levels. We use estimation results obtained for a panel of small open OECD economies (out-of-sample panel) to derive the equilibrium credit level for a panel of transition economies (in-sample panel). We opt for this (out-of-sample) approach because the coefficient estimates for transition economies are fairly unstable. We show that there is a large amount of uncertainty to determine the equilibrium level of private credit. Yet our results indicate that a number of countries are very close or even above the estimated equilibrium levels, whereas others are still well below the equilibrium level.

JEL: C31, C33, E44, G21

Keywords: credit to the private sector, credit growth, equilibrium level of credit, initial undershooting, transition economies

Non-technical summary

The emerging literature on credit growth in transition economies has documented that lending to the private sector has recently grown dynamically in a number of transition economies. This can be attributed to a number of factors, including macroeconomic stabilization, comprehensive reforms and privatization in the financial sector, the introduction of market institutions and legal reforms. However, given the size of the recent boom in bank lending in Central and Eastern Europe (CEE) some commentators have questioned whether the growth rates recorded in these countries can be viewed as sustainable in the medium to long run.

In order to answer this question, this paper investigates the determinants of domestic credit to the private sector as a percentage of GDP in 11 CEE countries as well as the equilibrium level of private credit-to-GDP ratio. We have tested our empirical specifications for a variety of panels composed of (1) transition economies, (2) developed small and large OECD countries and (3) emerging market economies from Asia and the Americas.

The use of these panels provides some interesting perspectives. First, in-sample panels give useful insights regarding the major determinants of credit-to-GDP levels in CEE. Second, as financial depth in most transition economies remains comparatively low, it might well be that private credit-to-GDP ratios have still remained below their equilibrium levels for most of the last decade. This would give rise to a bias in the econometric estimates, as credit-to-GDP ratios tend to converge toward their equilibrium levels. To overcome this problem, we use estimates obtained from panels composed of small open OECD and emerging market economies from Asia and the Americas to obtain the equilibrium credit-to-GDP ratios for 11 CEE countries (out-of-sample panels).

Our results indicate that credit to the public sector (crowding out/crowding in), nominal interest rates, the inflation rate and the spread between lending and deposit rates aimed at capturing financial liberalization and competition in the banking sector turn out to be the major determinants of credit growth in the CEE-5, while GDP per capita is the only variable that enters the estimated equations in a robust manner for the Baltic and Southeastern European countries. Furthermore, we find the estimated coefficients for transition economies are much higher than those obtained for OECD and emerging market economies, which testifies to the bias caused by the initial undershooting of private credit to GDP in most countries. Another interesting result is that house prices are found to lead to an increase in private credit only in countries with high house price inflation. This finding disqualifies the house price variable from being included in the long-run equation to be used for the derivation of the equilibrium level of private credit.

Furthermore, we can draw some general conclusions with regard to undershooting and overshooting (i.e. deviations from the estimated equilibrium credit-to-GDP ratios) for transition economies, even though the application of the out-of-sample small open OECD panel to transition economies yields a wide corridor of deviations from the equilibrium. Considering the midpoint of the estimated interval, Croatia is the only country which might have reached the equilibrium by 2004. When looking at whole ranges, the upper edges of the estimated band reached equilibrium in Bulgaria, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia and Slovenia, although the mass of the estimated deviation was still located mostly on the undershooting side in 2004. Moreover, it turns out that the initial overshooting might not ve been that large for the Czech Republic and Slovakia, after all. Finally, it is interesting to see that the initial undershooting remains relatively stable for Lithuania, Poland and Romania throughout the period. Overall, our results suggest that the CEE countries cannot be generally regarded as (over)shooting stars in terms of their credit-to-GDP ratios despite robust credit growth observed in most of the countries.

1 Introduction

The emerging literature on credit growth in transition economies has documented that lending to the private sector has recently grown dynamically in a number of transition economies.¹ This can be attributed to a number of factors, including macroeconomic stabilization, comprehensive reforms and privatization in the financial sector, the introduction of market institutions and legal reforms. However, given the size of the recent boom in bank lending in Central and Eastern Europe (CEE) some commentators have questioned whether the growth rates recorded in these countries can be viewed as sustainable in the medium to long run.

In order to answer this question, this paper investigates the determinants of domestic credit to the private sector as a percentage of GDP in 11 CEE countries² as well as the equilibrium level of private credit-to-GDP ratio. We have tested our empirical specifications for a variety of panels composed of (1) transition economies, (2) developed small and large OECD countries and (3) emerging market economies from Asia and the Americas.

The use of these panels provides some interesting perspectives. First, insample panels give useful insights regarding the major determinants of creditto-GDP levels in CEE. Second, as financial depth in most transition economies remains comparatively low, it might well be that private credit-to-GDP ratios have still remained below their equilibrium levels for most of the last decade. This would give rise to a bias in the econometric estimates, as credit-to-GDP ratios tend to converge toward their equilibrium levels.³ To overcome this problem, we could use estimates obtained from panels composed of small open OECD and emerging market economies from Asia and the Americas to obtain the equilibrium credit-to-GDP ratios for 11 CEE countries.

The paper is structured as follows. Section 2 reviews some stylized facts regarding credit growth in the transition economies. Section 3 briefly overviews the relevant literature, sketches the issue of initial undershooting and overshoot-ing of the credit-to-GDP ratio, and examines their consequences for econometric testing. Section 4 presents the economic specification used for the estimations and describes the dataset and the estimation techniques. Section 5 then presents and discusses the estimation results. Finally, Section 6 draws some concluding remarks.

¹See e.g. Cottarelli, Dell'Ariccia and Vladkova-Hollar (2003), Schadler (2005), Backé and Zumer (2005), Duenwald, Gueorguiev and Schaechter (2005), Pazarbaşýoğlu et al. (2005), Coricelli, Mucci and Revoltella (2006) and Hilbers, Otker-Robe and Pazarbaşioğlu (2006).

²Countries included are Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovakia and Slovenia.

³An analogous line of reasoning is applied in the literature on equilibrium exchange rates of CEE countries (Maeso-Fernandez, Osbath and Schnatz, 2005).

2 Some Stylized Facts

To place credit developments in transition economies into context, it is useful to recall that financial systems in these countries are bank-based – about 85% of financial sector assets are bank assets – and that capital markets (in particular corporate bond and stock market segments) are generally not very developed. This implies that bank credit is the main source of external financing in these countries, although foreign direct investment (FDI) has also been important in some countries. Banking sectors in transition economies in CEE have undergone a comprehensive transformation in the past 15 years or so, including wide-ranging reforms of their regulatory frameworks and supervisory arrangements, bank consolidation schemes and – in almost all countries – sweeping privatization of financial institutions, mainly to foreign strategic owners (mostly financial institutions based in "old" EU Member States). Consequently, the governance of banks has greatly improved, and the performance and health of these banking sectors have advanced substantially, as standard prudential indicators show.⁴

In 2005, the banking systems' capital adequacy ratios in the 11 countries ranged from 10.6% (Slovenia) to 20.3% (Romania), with an unweighted average of about 13%, well above the statutory minimum of 8% prescribed by the Basel rules. Profitability has risen considerably, as return on equity data show, and is now above the EU average (about 13%) in most countries covered in this study (see Chart 1). Asset quality has improved, as non-performing loan ratios have fallen (see Chart 1). Reserves and provisions now cover a considerable part of substandard assets in most of the countries under review here, as coverage ratios ranged from 60% to 100% in 2005 in most cases, with an unweighted average of about 85%.⁵

 $^{^4\,\}rm On$ recent assessments of banking sector performance and strength in CEE countries see e.g. ECB (2005a, 2005b and 2006), EBRD (2005), IMF (2005a, 2005b and 2006), IMF Financial System Stability Assessments (http://www.imf.org/external/NP/fsap/fsap.asp).

 $^{{}^{5}}$ Romania (15%) and Hungary (44%) are outliers in this respect. It should be noted, however, that a low coverage ratio is not necessarily problematic, as it can to some extent reflect the classification and composition of non-performing assets. Moreover, a high level of capitalization may provide an alternative cushion if the coverage ratio of reserves and provisions is low.

Chart 1. Return on Equity and Nonperforming Loans



Source: National central banks.

Note: Return on equity: Slovakia: value 2000 (instead of 1998); Romania:

value 1999 (instead of 1998); Latvia: value 2004 (instead of 2005)

Nonperforming loans: Latvia: value 2004 (instead of 2005); no data available for Lithuania

Chart 2 gives an overview of the development of credit to the private sector in percent of GDP from the early 1990s to 2004. Several observations can be made on the basis of chart 1. Some countries, namely Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania and Slovenia, started transition with low credit-to-GDP ratios of around 20%. Estonia and Latvia then recorded a marked increase in the ratio, and the credit-to-GDP ratio also rose steadily in Slovenia from the early 1990s to 2004 although the overall increase was less pronounced than in the two aforementioned Baltic countries. Credit growth has picked up only recently in Lithuania and Romania, and for Poland, only a moderate increase can be observed during the second half of the period studied.



Chart 2. Bank Credit to the Private Sector as a Percentage of GDP, 1990 to 2004 Baltic Countries

Source: Authors' calculations based on data drawn from the IFS/IMF. For precise data definitions, see Section 4.2.

By contrast, the second group of countries, notably Croatia and Hungary, started transition with higher credit-to-GDP ratios than the Baltic countries. After dropping considerably to close to 20%, the ratio started to increase, reaching pretransition levels in Hungary and growing to levels well exceeding 40% in Croatia by 2004.

The third group of countries, comprising Bulgaria, the Czech Republic and Slovakia, had the highest credit-to-GDP ratio at the beginning of the period (between 60% and 80%). For Bulgaria, this ratio came down to 10% in 1997,

while expanding to close to 40% by $2004.^6$ The Czech Republic and Slovakia also recorded a substantial contraction (to nearly 30% for both countries), while the ratios seem to have stabilized during the last couple of years.

The differences in initial credit-to-GDP levels can be traced largely to different approaches with respect to the financing of (credit to) enterprises under central planning across countries as well as strongly diverging inflation (price level adjustment) patterns across countries at the initial stage of transition. In turn, major temporary contractions in credit-to-GDP ratios during the transition process have mainly been due to banking consolidation measures, by which nonperforming assets were removed from banks' balance sheets. Such nonperforming assets (mostly loans) had either been inherited from the previous era of central planning or were built up in the early transition years, when banking systems were still immature, flawed by inadequate regulation, connected lending and simple lack of experience.

3 The Equilibrium Level of Private Credit

3.1 Literature Overview

Several theoretical and empirical studies have dealt with credit growth, financial deepening and lending booms. One body of literature on credit growth reviews the determinants of credit demand and credit supply. In the models on credit demand, real GDP, prices and interest rates are commonly the explanatory variables, although there is no "standard" model is widely used. On the supply side, a variety of credit channel models consider how changes in the financial positions of banks (bank lending channel) and borrowers (balance sheet channel) affect the availability of credit in an economy (see Hall, 2001, for a succinct overview). However, modeling and estimation techniques in this area are complicated due to difficulties in separating demand-side effects from supply-side effects (see e.g. Rajan 1994).

Regarding the relationship between credit and growth, there are strong empirical indications of a positive interaction between the two, usually with elasticity higher than one in the long run. This implies that credit-to-GDP levels rise as per capita GDP increases, a process which is denoted as financial deepening (see Terrones and Mendoza, 2004 for a concise overview). In addition, empirical studies have examined the direction of causality; with most results suggesting that it is financial deepening which spurs economic development (see e.g. Beck, Levine and Loayza, 2000, and Rajan and Zingales, 2001 for an overview). While the results of this literature are appealing, it is difficult to establish genuine

⁶Note that the peculiar and rather fuzzy pattern of the credit-to-GDP ratio in Bulgaria shown in chart 1 is not due to data problems but, to a considerable extent, driven by exchange rate movements. The ratio rose sharply in 1994, 1996 and 1997 because of the depreciation of the domestic currency vis-à-vis the U.S. dollar, considering that a significant share of credit was denominated in foreign currency (mainly U.S. dollars). Correction of the credit ratio occurred in the post-crisis period because of the appreciation of the domestic currency and because of the write-off of nonperforming loans.

causality, while nonlinearities in the relationship between financial development and growth as well as country heterogeneity add to the problems of empirical analysis in this area (see discussion in Favara, 2003).

The literature on lending booms has identified four main triggers: (i) real business cycles caused by technological or terms-of-trade shocks (with highly pro-cyclical output elasticity of credit demand), (ii) financial liberalization of an initially repressed financial system, (iii) capital inflows triggered by external factors, and (iv) wealth shocks originating from comprehensive structural reforms (see Gourinchas, Valdes and Landerretche (2001) for a survey). In addition, less than fully credible policies (in particular exchange rate-based stabilizations) can also play a role in spurring credit booms, by setting off an unsustainable consumption boom (see Calvo and Vegh (1999) for a review). Moreover, the financial acceleration literature, including the more recent literature on credit cycles, gives some theoretical insights into the mechanisms that drive or amplify credit expansions, which turn out to be non-sustainable and thus ultimately require a correction (Terrones and Mendoza, 2004). There is little evidence in the empirical literature that lending booms typically lead to financial crises. As Gourinchas, Valdes and Landerretche. (2001) point out, while the conditional probability of a lending boom occurring before a financial crisis may be quite high, this does not tell us much about the converse, i.e. the conditional probability that a financial crisis will follow a lending boom.⁷

3.2 Initial Under- and Overshooting in Transition Economies

The question of whether or not credit growth in transition economies is excessive is closely related to the issue of what the equilibrium level of the stock of bank credit to the private sector as a share of GDP in those countries is. In this study, we define the equilibrium level of private credit as the level of private credit, which would be justified by the economic fundamentals. Deviations from the equilibrium level occur if changes in the private credit-to-GDP ratio cannot be explained by changes in the economic fundamentals (so-called undershooting and overshooting). Hence, our notion of equilibrium is very close to the one used for instance in the literature on equilibrium exchange rates (Behavioral Equilibrium Exchange Rate - BEER) and in other fields of the economic profession.⁸

Chart 3 demonstrate when moving from point A through B to C, the level

⁷The financial accelerator literature, including the more recent literature on credit cycles, gives some theoretical insights into the mechanisms that drive or amplify credit expansions, which later on turn out to be non-sustainable and thus ultimately require a correction. Overshooting, to give just one example, may occur if bank managers follow overly loose credit policies in order to boost current bank earnings at the expense of future earnings. Moreover, as information externalities make banks' credit policies interdependent, banks coordinate and tighten credit policy in the event of an adverse shock to borrowers (Rajan, 1994).

⁸Note that our definition of equilibrium is not suitable for analyzing the connection between credit growth and external sustainability, financial stability aspects of credit growth or the optimal currency (foreign currency vs. domestic currency) or sectoral (households vs. corporate sector) composition of the credit-to-GDP ratio.

of private credit increases as a function of the underlying fundamentals. The depicted trajectory of the increase in the credit-to-GDP ratio (credit growth) can be thought of as an equilibrium phenomenon.

However, we may also think of a situation when the observed credit-to-GDP ratio is out of tune with economic fundamentals. For example, Point A' depicts the situation when the initial credit-to-GDP ratio is higher than what the level of economic development would justify (initial overshooting), whereas Point A" shows where this ratio is lower (initial undershooting). In these cases, credit growth should differ from the equilibrium rate of growth, and this would secure the return to the equilibrium level of the credit-to-GDP ratio.⁹

Initial undershooting (Point A") may be important for transition economies, most of which started their economic transformation process with lower levels of credit-to-GDP ratios than other countries at the same level of development would have in other parts of the world. This is the heritage of central planning as under the Communist regimes the financial sector was underdeveloped. Hence, once economic transformation from central planning to market is completed, higher credit growth in the transition economies may partly reflect the correction from this initial undershooting to the equilibrium level of the creditto-GDP ratio. This is shown in Chart 3, where the move from A" to B can be decomposed into (a) equilibrium credit growth, given by A" to B", and (b) the adjustment from initial undershooting to equilibrium (from B" to B). However, in cases of high credit growth rates, the increase in credit to GDP may be even higher than justified by the equilibrium change and the correction from the initial undershooting. The move from A" to B' on Chart 3 indicates such an overshooting, where the excessive increase in credit to GDP is given by the distance between B and B'.

3.3 The Consequences of an Initial Under- or Overshooting

If there is initial undershooting or overshooting at the beginning of the transition process and if the adjustment toward equilibrium occurs gradually (implying persistent initial undershooting or overshooting), the use of panels that only include transition economies may lead to severely biased constant terms and coefficient estimates, as put forward in the context of equilibrium exchange rates by Maeso-Fernandez, Osbat and Schnatz (2005). When regressing the observed credit-to-GDP ratio moving from A" to B (instead of the equilibrium change from A to B) on a set of fundamentals, the slope coefficient would suffer from an obvious upward bias. By the same token, the constant term will be lower than it would be in the absence of an initial undershooting.

⁹In both cases, credit growth is expressed in terms of GDP. For example, credit growth ([C(t)-C(t-1)]/C(t-1) is higher for countries with lower credit-to-GDP levels than for countries with higher credit-to-GDP levels if both countries have similar credit-to-GDP flows. Hence, it is more appropriate to relate changes in credit to the GDP to avoid this distortion (Arpa, Reininger and Walko, 2005), as we do in this study.

This is why it is advisable to use panels including countries which do not exhibit an initial undershooting or overshooting in the credit-to-GDP ratio or to use out-of-sample panels for the analysis of the equilibrium level of the creditto-GDP ratio of transition economies.

Chart 3. The Evolution of the Credit-to-GDP Ratio



3.4 The Empirical Literature on Transition Economies

Cottarelli, Dell'Ariccia and Vladkova-Hollar (2005) were the first to estimate a model of the long-term relationship between the private sector credit/GDP ratio and a set of variables (see table 1) for a panel of non-transition economies. Subsequently, they produce out-of-sample estimates for private sector credit/GDP ratios of 15 CEE countries. As actual private sector credit-to-GDP levels were considerably lower in 2002 than the authors' estimates of the expected long-term credit/GDP ratios they conclude that private-sector bank credit levels in that year were not inconsistent with the structural characteristics of the economies under examination.

We are aware of two other recent studies, which also investigate the equilibrium level of private credit and the possible "excessiveness" of credit growth in transition economies. Boissay, Calvo-Gonzalez and Kozluk (2006) first estimate time series models including GDP-per-capita and real interest rates for a number of established market economies for periods with stable credit-to-GDP ratios. They then compare the average of the credit growth rates for transition economies obtained using the error correction specifications estimated for the developed countries with the observed credit growth in the transition economies. They also estimate time series models for transition economies, which include the real interest rate, a quadratic trend and a dummy aimed at capturing changes in credit growth after 2001. Their results indicate excessive credit growth in the three Baltic States and in Bulgaria and to a lesser extent also in Hungary and Croatia. At the same time, credit growth in Romania and Slovenia seems to be non-excessive.¹⁰

The study by Kiss, Nagy and Vonnák (2006) estimates a dynamic panel (Pooled Mean Group Estimator) model including GDP-per-capita, real interest rate and inflation of 11 euro area countries (excluding Luxembourg) to generate out-of-sample estimates for private sector credit-to-GDP ratios of the three Baltic countries and of the CEE-5 (Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Slovakia and Slovenia). They find that only Estonia and Latvia may have come close recently to equilibrium while the other countries have credit-to-GDP ratios below the estimated equilibrium levels. Besides being above the estimated equilibrium credit level, they define two other criteria which may indicate a credit boom: (a) if the observed credit growth exceeds the one implied by the long-run equilibrium relationship and (b) if the observed growth rate is higher than the speed of adjustment to equilibrium in the error-correction model. Overall, they find that the risk of a credit boom is high in both Estonia and Latvia according to these criteria, whereas Hungary, Lithuania and Slovenia might be in the danger zone because the observed growth rates are higher than the one derived from the long-run equilibrium relationship. In addition, they argue that possible credit booms are mainly due to credit expansion to households and not to the nonfinancial corporate sector. 11

We contribute to this literature by expanding the list of countries (11 transition, OECD and emerging market economies), the list of explanatory variables, by constructing carefully several possible benchmark country groups which share common characteristics with the transition economies (emerging markets, small emerging markets, small and open OECD countries) and by performing extensive sensitivity analysis of the estimation results.

¹⁰Two observations come to mind with regard to this paper. First, the quadratic trend may capture missing variables from their model (which indeed only contains real interest rates) and explosive trends due to credit boom or to adjustment from initial undershooting of credit levels. It is in fact surprising to see that a sizeable number of countries have excessive credit growth given that the quadratic trend has a very good fit thus leaving very little unexplained variation in the credit series. Second, the authors use Euribor for their only macroeconomic variable, the real interest rate. This may be problematic because some foreign currency denominated loans are linked to other currencies than the euro for instance in Hungary but also because Euribor neglects the country risk and default risk at the micro level.

¹¹It may be noted that the two additional criteria used by the authors have some drawbacks. First, the observed growth rates may be in excess of the one derived from the long-run equilibrium relationship because of the adjustment from initial undershooting. Second, the speed of adjustment to equilibrium differs if the actual observations are below or above the estimated equilibrium.

4 Economic and Econometric Specifications

4.1 The Empirical Model

Most studies investigating credit growth employ a simple set of explanatory variables (see Table 1), which usually includes GDP per capita or real GDP, some kind of (real or nominal) interest rate and the inflation rate (Calza et al., 2001, 2003; Brzoza-Brzezina, 2005; Boissay, Calvo-Gonzalez and Kozluk, 2006 and Kiss, Nagy and Vonnák, 2006). Hofmann (2001) extends this list by house prices, a very important variable, because a rise in house prices is usually accompanied by an increase in credit to the private sector.

Cottarelli et al. (2005) use indicators capturing factors that drive the private credit-to-GDP ratio. These variables describe the degree of financial liberalization, the quality and implementation of accounting standards, entry restrictions to the banking sector and the origin of the legal system. Finally, they use a measure of public debt aimed at analyzing possible crowding-out (or crowding-in) effects.

Authors	Dependent variable	Explanatory variables			
Calza et al. (2001)	Real loans	GDP per capita in PPS, short-term			
Califa et all (2001)	Toolin Tooling	and long-term real interest rates			
Hofmann (2001)	Real loans	Real GDP, real interest rate, housing prices			
Calza at al. (2003)	Paul loong	Real GDP growth, nominal lending rate,			
Calza et al. (2005)	Real loans	inflation rate			
Brzoza-Brzezina (2005)	Real loans	Real GDP growth, real interest rate			
		GDP per capita in PPS, inflation rate,			
		financial liberalisation index,			
Cottarelli et al. (2005)	Credit to the private	accounting standards,			
	sector (%GDP)	entry restrictions to the banking sector,			
		German origin of legal system, public debt			
Boisson of al (2006)	Credit to the private	GDP per capita, real interest rate (Euribor),			
Doissay et al. (2000)	sector $(\% \text{GDP})$	quadratic trend			
Kiss at al. (2006)	Credit to the private	GDP per capita, real interest rate			
11155 Et al. (2000)	sector (%GDP)	inflation rate			

Table 1. Overview of Papers Analyzing the Determinants of Credit Growth

Note: GDP per capita in PPS (purchasing power standards)

is obtained by converting GDP per capita figures using

the nominal exchange rate given by the domestic and for eign price levels (P/P*).

The economic specification which we estimate for the private credit-to-GDP ratio relies on explanatory variables used in previous studies, but also extends them. We consider the following variables:

1.) GDP per capita in terms of purchasing power standards (PPS) (CAPITA

). An increase in per capita GDP is expected to result in an increase in credit



to the private sector. Alternatively, we also use real GDP (gdpr) and industrial production (ip) to check for the robustness of the GDP per capita variable and to see to what extent these variables, which are used interchangeably in the literature, are substitutes.

2.) Bank credit to the government sector as a percentage of GDP (C^G). As this variable captures possible crowding-out effects, any increase (decrease) in bank credit to the government sector is thought to give rise to a decrease (increase) in bank credit to the private sector. It should be noted that bank credit to the government measures crowding out better than public debt as employed in Cottarelli et al. (2005), because public debt also includes loans taken out abroad and because public entities may well finance themselves on the securities markets. Moreover, public debt is subject to valuation and stock-flow adjustments.

3.) Short-term and long-term nominal lending interest rates (i). Lower interest rates should promote credit to the private sector, implying a negative sign for this variable. Calza et al. (2001) use both short-term and long-term interest rates, arguing that whether either rates play a more important role depends on the respective share of loans with fixed interest rates and variable interest rates. Because the nominal lending interest rates used in the paper show a high correlation with short-term interest rates (three-month Treasury bills and money market rates), short-term interest rates are used as a robustness check rather than as an additional variable.

4.) Inflation (p). High inflation is thought to be associated with a drop in bank credit to the private sector. Inflation is measured both in terms of the producer price index (PPI) and the consumer price index (CPI).

House prices (p^{house}) . There are a number of reasons why changes in 5.)housing prices might lead to changes in credit demand. First, increases in housing prices result in a rise in the total amount which has to be spent to purchase a given residential or commercial property. This is subsequently reflected in an increase in demand for credit through which the higher purchasing price can be fully or partly financed. This means that an increase in housing prices may generate more credit to the private sector. Second, rising housing prices may generate a rise in credit demand of homeowners as higher housing prices increase lifetime wealth according to Modigliani's lifecycle theory, which in turn leads to consumption smoothing by means of more borrowing. By contrast, higher housing prices are usually connected to higher rents, which decrease borrowing of renters (Hofmann, 2001). Third, credit demand may be affected by housing prices because Tobin's q theory is also applicable to the housing market. For example, a higher-than-unity q implies market value above replacement cost, and this promotes construction production, which is reflected in higher demand for loans. Changes in commercial and residential property prices also have an influence on credit supply. According to the broad lending channel, net wealth, serving as collateral for credit, determine the capacity of firms and household to borrow externally. Put differently, higher housing prices resulting in rising net wealth increase the amount of credit provided by banks. Overall, both credit supply and demand bear a positive relationship to housing prices from a theoretical viewpoint.

However, a fundamental problem arising here is whether price increases in the real estate market are driven by fundamental factors or whether they reflect a bubble. If price developments in the real estate market mirror changes in fundamentals, such as the quality of housing or adjustments to the underlying fundamentals, the ensuing rise in the stock of credit can be viewed as an equilibrium phenomenon. In contrast, in the event that high credit growth is due to the development of a housing price bubble due to speculation, the accompanying credit growth is a disequilibrium phenomenon from the point of view of long-term credit stock.

6.) The degree of liberalization of the financial sector, in particular that of the banking sector. A higher degree of financial liberalization makes it easier for banks to fund credit supply. Because the financial liberalization indices (finlib) used in Abiad and Mody (2003) and Cottarelli et al. (2005) only partially match our country and time coverage, we use in addition the spread between lending and deposit rates to capture financial liberalization. A decrease in the spread can be an indication of financial liberalization in particular if it reflects more intensive competition among banks and also between banks and other financial intermediaries. It should be noted, however, that the spread variables could also capture other factors than financial liberalization.¹² With this caveat and limitation in mind, spread variables are still the most appropriate variables to capture financial liberalization that are available for all the countries in the different panels covered in this study.

7.) Public and private credit registries (reg). The existence of credit registries diminishes problems related to asymmetric information and the probability of credit fraud. This in turn leads to an increase in the supply of bank credit, all things being equal.¹³¹⁴

For some of the variables, it is notoriously difficult to separate whether they influence the demand for or the supply of credit. For instance, GDP per capita and the interest rate variables could affect both credit demand and supply. These problems were tackled in the literature on the credit channel by the use of bank- and firm-level data.¹⁵ However, given that we are interested in aggregated macroeconomic variables, these identification issues are beyond the scope of this paper.

Our baseline specification includes per capita GDP, bank credit to the public sector, nominal lending rates, inflation rates and financial liberalization based

 $^{^{12}}$ Note e.g. that the recent decline in the absolute level of spreads may be partly due to record low global interest rates.

¹³In contrast to Cottarelli et al. (2005), for econometric reasons, we do not include a variable that captures the tradition of legal systems of countries, which can affect financial development. The mean group estimator (MGE) estimation methods in section 5 do not allow the use of dummy variables that take a value of zero throughout the entire period.

¹⁴We are aware of the fact that the registry variable may not capture how credit contracts are enforced in courts. However, even though an easier seizure of collateral by banks may spark credit to households and small firms, such growth will probably be reflected in a one-off spike in growth rates.

¹⁵For an overview, see e.g. Kierzenkowski (2004).

on the spread:

$$C^{P} = f(CAP^{\dagger}ITA, C^{G}, i^{lending}, p^{PPI}, spread)$$
(1)

where C^P is bank credit to the private sector expressed as a share of GDP. In addition, it is worthwhile checking whether the robustness of the variables included in equation (1) is affected by the use of alternative measures often used in the literature (e.g. replacing GDP per capita by real GDP growth and real industrial production, or long-term lending rates by short-term lending rates, and the PPI by the CPI). These alternative variables are subsequently introduced one by one in the baseline specification, which yields five additional equations.

$$C^{P} = f(\stackrel{+}{ip}, \stackrel{-}{C^{G}}, \stackrel{-}{i^{lending}}, \stackrel{-}{p^{PPI}}, \stackrel{-}{spread})$$
(2)

$$C^{P} = f(gdpr, C^{G}, i^{lending}, p^{PPI}, spread)$$
(3)

$$C^{P} = f(CAP^{\dagger}ITA, C^{G}, i^{short-term}, p^{PPI}, spread)$$
(4)

$$C^{P} = f(CAP^{\dagger}ITA, C^{G}, i^{lending}, p^{CPI}, spread)$$
(5)

$$C^{P} = f(CA\overset{+}{P}ITA, \overset{-}{C^{G}}, i^{lending}, p^{PPI}, fi^{+}nlib)$$
(6)

The sensitivity check to the alternative specification is then followed by the use of the registry variable and by the inclusion of house prices:

$$C^{P} = f(CAP^{+}ITA, C^{G}, i^{lending}, p^{PPI}, spread, reg)$$
(7)

$$C^{P} = f(CAP^{\dagger}ITA, C^{G}, i^{lending}, p^{PPI}, spread, p^{house})$$
(8)

4.2 Estimation Methods

The first step is to check whether our series are stationary in levels. Four panel unit root tests are applied: the Levin, Lin and Chu (2002), the Breitung (2000), the Hadri (2000) and the Im-Pesaran-Shin (2003) tests. The first three assume common unit roots across panel members, while the Im-Pesaran-Shin test allows for cross-country heterogeneity. A further difference is that the Hadri test tests the null of no unit root against the alternative of a unit root, whereas the remaining tests take the null of a unit root against the alternative of no unit root.

If the series turn out to be nonstationary in levels but stationary in first differences, the coefficients of the long-term relationships for the relationships

FCF

shown in equations (1) to (9) are derived using three alternative estimation techniques: a.) fixed-effect ordinary least squares (FE_OLS); b.) panel dynamic OLS estimates (DOLS) and c.) the mean group estimator (MGE) proposed by Pesaran, Shin and Smith (1999).

The panel dynamic OLS, which is the mean group of individual DOLS estimates, accounts for the endogeneity of the regressors and serial correlation in the residuals in the simple OLS setting by incorporating leads and lags of the regressors in first differences. The panel DOLS can be written for panel member as follows:

$$Y_{i,t} = \beta_0 + \sum_{h=1}^n \beta_{i,h} \cdot X_{i,t} + \sum_{h=1}^n \sum_{j=-k_{i,1}}^{k_{i,2}} \gamma_{i,h,j} \cdot \Delta X_{i,h,t-j} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
(9)

where $k_{i,1}$ and $k_{i,2}$ denote respectively leads and lags and the cointegrating vector β contains the long-term coefficients of the explanatory variables (with h = 1, .., n) for each panel member *i*.

The mean group estimator (MGE) is based on the error correction form of the ARDL model, which is given for panel member i as shown in equation (10) where the dependent variable in first differences is regressed on the lagged values of the dependent and independent variables in levels and first differences:

$$\Delta Y_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \rho_i (Y_{i,t-1} + \sum_{h=1}^n \beta_{i,h} X_{i,t-1}) + \sum_{j=1}^{l_{i,1}} \eta_{i,j} \Delta Y_{i,t-j} + \sum_{h=1}^n \sum_{j=0}^{l_{i,2}} \gamma_{i,h,j} \cdot \Delta X_{i,h,t-j} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
(10)

where $l_{i,1}$ and $l_{i,2}$ are the maximum lags. The long-term coefficients (β') are obtained by normalizing vector δ' on ρ .

Finally, we use the error correction term (ρ) obtained from the error-correction specification of the mean group estimator as tests for cointegration. A negative and statistically significant error correction term is taken as evidence for the presence of cointegration.

5 Results

5.1 Estimation Results

The estimations are carried out for quarterly data covering 43 countries, which are grouped into three main panels: (a) developed OECD countries, (b) emerging markets from Asia and the Americas¹⁶ and (c) CEE transition economies. The OECD panel is further split into two subpanels: (a) small OECD countries



¹⁶Argentina (AR), Brazil (BR), Chile (CL), India (IN), Indonesia (ID), Israel (IL), Mexico (MX), Peru (PE), the Philippines (PH), South Africa (ZA), South Korea (KR), Thailand (TH). Although South Korea and Mexico are OECD countries, they can be viewed as catching-up emerging market economies for most of the period investigated in this paper.

(excluding transition economies that have joined the OECD)¹⁷, and (b) large OECD countries.¹⁸ The CEE panel consists of 11 transition economies and is also subdivided into three presumably more homogeneous groups: (a) the Baltic countries (B-3): Estonia (EE), Latvia (LV) and Lithuania (LT), (b) the CEE-5: the Czech Republic (CZ), Hungary (HU), Poland (PL), Slovakia (SK) and Slovenia (SI), and (c) Southeastern Europe (SEE-3): Bulgaria (BG), Croatia (HR) and Romania (RO). The sample begins between 1975 and 1980 for the OECD countries, between 1980 and 1993 for the emerging market economies, and between 1990 and 1996 for the transition economies; it ends in 2004.¹⁹

Panel unit root tests are employed for level data and for first-differenced data. While the test results show that most of the series are I(1) processes, in some cases, the tests yield conflicting results for level data. However, since the tests do not indicate unambiguously in any case that the series are stationary in level, we conclude that they are I(1).²⁰

When analyzing possible long-term relationships between the private creditto-GDP ratio on the one hand and the explanatory variables on the other, one has to make sure that the variables are cointegrated. As explained earlier, the error correction terms (ρ) issued from the estimated error correction form of the MGE are used for this purpose. The variables are connected via a cointegrating vector in the event that the error correction term is statistically significant and has a negative sign. According to the results shown in Table 2 below, most of the error correction terms fulfill this double criterion. A notable exception is the panel composed of the three Baltic countries, as there seems to be only one cointegration relationship out of the eight tested equations.

¹⁷Austria (AT), Australia (AU), Belgium (BE), Canada (CA), Denmark (DK), Finland (FI), Greece (GR), Ireland (IE), the Netherlands (NL), New Zealand (NZ), Norway (NO), Portugal (PT), Spain (ES) and Sweden (SE).

¹⁸Germany (DE), France (FR), Italy (IT), Japan (JP), the United Kingdom (UK) and the United States (US).

¹⁹The dataset is unbalanced, as the length of the individual data series depends largely on data availability. All data are transformed into logs. See Appendix A for a detailed description of the source and the time span for variables.

 $^{^{20}\}mathrm{These}$ results are not reported in the paper but are available from the authors upon request.

	Large OECD	Small OECD	$\mathbf{E}\mathbf{M}$	CEE-11	CEE-5	B-3	SEE
Eq.1	-0.094***	-0.063***	-0.132***	-0.281^{***}	-0.225^{***}	-0.103	-0.551***
Eq.2	-0.088***	-0.052***	-0.135^{***}	-0.174^{***}	-0.188***	-0.052	-0.273***
Eq.3	-0.092***	-0.055***	-0.202***	-0.188^{***}	-0.183^{***}	-0.135**	-0.248***
Eq.4	-0.097***	-0.069***	-0.189***	-0.226***	-0.136^{***}	-0.049	-0.553***
Eq.5	-0.097***	-0.057***	-0.215^{***}	-0.198***	-0.207***	-0.066	-0.315***
Eq.6	-0.160***	-0.049**	-0.211***	-0.233***	-0.269 * * *	-0.120	-0.285**
$\operatorname{Eq.7}$	-0.980***	-0.003**	-0.134***	-0.227***	-0.231***	-0.033	-0.414**

Table 2 Error Correction Terms (ρ) from the Mean Group Estimator Estimations, Equation 1 to Equation 7

Note: *, ** and *** indicate statistical significance at the 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels, respectively. EM is the panel including emerging market economies.

We can now turn to the coefficient estimates, which are displayed in Table 3 and in the Appendix C. GDP per capita enters the long-run relationship with the expected positive sign for the OECD and the emerging market panels. This result is particularly robust for small OECD and emerging market economies, with the size of the coefficient usually lying somewhere between 0.4 and 1.0 for most of the alternative specifications. However, less robustness is found for the transition countries. This holds especially true for the CEE-5, for which GDP per capita turns out to be insignificant both in the baseline and in alternative specifications. Although cointegration could not be firmly established for the Baltic countries, it is worth mentioning that GDP per capita is usually statistically significant for this group as well as for the SEE-3. The fact that the coefficients' size largely exceeds unity reflects the upward bias due to quick adjustment toward equilibrium. The results furthermore indicate that the bias is substantially larger for the Baltic countries than for the SEE-3.

With regard to credit to the public sector, the estimations provide us with some interesting insights, as an increase (decrease) in credit to the public sector is found to cause a decline (rise) in private credit. This result is very robust for emerging market economies and for the CEE-5, as the coefficient estimates are almost always negative and statistically significant across different specifications. This lends support to the crowding-out/crowding-in hypothesis in these countries. Some empirical support for this hypothesis can be also established for the advanced OECD and for emerging market economies. By contrast, the estimated coefficients are either not significant or have a positive sign for the Baltic countries and for the SEE-3. This finding potentially mirrors the very low levels of public indebtedness of the three Baltic countries.

Let us now take a closer look at the nominal interest rate and at the inflation rate. In accordance with the results shown in Table 3 and in the Appendix C, there is reasonably robust empirical support for nominal lending rates being negatively linked to private credit in the CEE-5 as well as in emerging markets and small OECD countries. In contrast, the finding for the Baltic States and the SEE-3 is that interest rates mostly have a positive sign if they turn out to be statistically significant. Note that these results are not really affected by the use of lending rates or short-term interest rates.

For emerging economies from Asia and the Americas, particularly strong negative relationships are detected between the rate of inflation and private credit. Although less stable across different specifications and estimation methods, this negative relationship between inflation and credit is also supported by the data for the CEE-5 and for small OECD economies. By contrast, no systematic pattern could be revealed for the Baltic and Southeastern European countries.

An increase in financial liberalization, measured by a decline in spread, has the expected positive impact on private credit in small OECD economies and in the CEE-5, and also to some extent in the other transition economies. By contrast, the results for the financial liberalization index are less robust. Although the financial liberalization index is positively associated with private credit in OECD and emerging economies, it has an unexpected negative sign for all transition economies. An explanation for this may be the delay with which financial liberalization measured by this index is transmitted to private credit, whereas the spread variable captures the effective result of financial liberalization. The same mismatch between OECD and transition economies can be seen for private and public credit registries. While changes in credit registries produce the expected effect on private credit in OECD countries, the estimation results show the opposite happening in the transition economies.

 $\begin{array}{l} \text{Table 3. Estimation Results - Baseline Specification} \\ Vector = X\beta' \\ C^P = f(CAPITA, C^G, i^{lending}, p^{PPI}, spread); \beta' = [1, \beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3, \beta_4, \beta_5] \\ expected \ signs: \ [1, +, -, -, -, -] \end{array}$

=

	0	0	0	0	0
	β_1	β_2	β_3	β_4	β_5
Large OE	CD				
FE_{OLS}	0.422^{***}	-0.198^{***}	-0.028	-0.394*	-0.050***
DOLS	0.391^{***}	-0.034***	0.120^{***}	0.241	0.171^{***}
MGE	0.040	0.118	-0.016	-2.611^{**}	0.207^{*}
Small OE	CD				
FE_{OLS}	0.480***	-0.170^{***}	-0.068***	-0.178	-0.037***
DOLS	0.540***	-0.065***	-0.082	0.678^{***}	-0.143***
MGE	0.643***	0.057	-0.171	-1.272	0.281
Emerging	market eco	nomies			
FE_OLS	0.492***	-0.120***	0.136^{***}	-0.263***	0.069^{**}
DOLS	0.715***	-0.064***	0.187^{***}	-0.436***	-0.001
MGE	0.583^{***}	-0.386***	0.454	-0.492***	-1.172
CEE-11					
FE_OLS	1.648***	0.053^{**}	0.297^{***}	-0.046	-0.640***
DOLS	0.981***	-0.169^{***}	0.125	-0.105	-0.382***
MGE	2.043	-0.114	-0.027***	-0.263	-0.907**
CEE-5					
FE_OLS	0.169	-0.276***	-0.031	-1.179^{***}	-0.407***
DOLS	0.375***	-0.308***	-0.046	1.062^{***}	-0.109*
MGE	-1.076	-0.222***	-0.057***	1.501	-0.985**
B-3					
FE_OLS	2.554^{***}	0.024	0.369^{***}	0.396^{*}	-0.458***
DOLS	2.227***	-0.121	0.083^{**}	-1.676^{***}	-0.481***
MGE	4.045	0.313	-0.124***	-2.852	-1.466
SEE					
FEOLS	2.049***	0.455^{***}	0.218^{***}	-0.102**	-0.366***
DOLS	0.745***	0.013	-0.298	-0.479	-0.737***
MGE	1.654^{***}	0.264	0.120	-0.616^{**}	0.217

Note: *, ** and *** indicate statistical significance at the 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels, respectively. M is the panel including emerging market economies.

Because data on house prices are available only for developed OECD countries and for four transition economies (the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary and Lithuania), the estimations are performed only for large and small OECD and transition economies. In addition, we constructed a panel including countries exhibiting large and persistent increases in house prices over the late 1990s, possibly indicating the build-up of a real estate bubble (Canada, Spain, France, the UK and the USA.). The results are not particularly robust for the small and large OECD economies, as the coefficient on house prices changes sign across different estimation methods (Table 4). For transition economies, even though the results are somewhat more encouraging, as the coefficient is always positively signed if it is found to be statistically significant, the estimated equations seem to be rather fragile in general.

Now, if we look at the group of countries with large increases in house prices, it turns out that house prices are positively correlated in a robust fashion with private credit, and that the other coefficient estimates are also in line with our earlier findings. However, the fact that the inclusion of house prices yields robust results only if large increases have taken place on the property markets might suggest that house prices mostly matter for private credit in the event of a possible housing market bubble.

Table 4. Estimation Results – Equation 8; Housing Prices $Vector = X\beta'$ $C^{P} = f(CAPITA, C^{G}, i^{lending}, p^{PPI}, spread, p^{hou \sin g}); \beta' = [1, \beta_{1}, \beta_{2}, \beta_{3}, \beta_{4}, \beta_{5}, \beta_{6}]$ expected signs: [1, +, -, -, -, -, +]

	ρ	β_1	β_2	β_3	β_4	β_5	β_6		
Small OECD economies									
FE_{OLS}		0.611^{***}	-0.166^{***}	-0.098***	-0.125	-0.010	-0.062**		
DOLS		0.286^{***}	-0.064	-0.043	0.086	-0.081	0.399^{***}		
MGE	-0.207***	0.033	0.203^{***}	-0.277**	-0.548	-0.080	0.587^{***}		
Large OE	CD count	ries							
FEOLS		0.078^{*}	-0.209***	-0.022	-0.855***	0.007	0.290^{***}		
DOLS		0.395^{***}	-0.079***	-0.041*	-0.345	-0.040	-0.161**		
MGE	-0.181***	-0.360	-0.049	-0.097^{*}	-2.397^{***}	0.139	0.544^{**}		
OECD ec	onomies v	vith high	growth ra	tes in hou	sing prices	5			
FE_OLS		0.111*	-0.160***	-0.066**	-0.787***	-0.025	0.336^{***}		
DOLS		0.334^{***}	-0.171***	-0.043**	-0.412	0.022	0.040^{*}		
MGE	-0.176***	-0.838	-0.146^{***}	-0.235**	-2.404**	0.432^{*}	0.745^{**}		
CEE-4									
FE_OLS		0.316	-0.429***	0.032	-0.603***	-0.096	0.541^{***}		
DOLS		0.010^{***}	-0.042***	0.050	-0.563**	0.002	-0.018		
MGE	-0.125***	-0.651	-0.136***	-0.599***	0.080	-0.359	0.561^{**}		

Note: ho is the error correction term. *, ** and *** indicate statistical significance

at the $10\%,\,5\%$ and 1% significance levels, respectively.

5.2 Deviations from the Estimated Equilibrium Levels

We now turn to the comparison of the fitted values from the panel estimations for the transition economies to the observed values for the transition economies. This exercise makes it possible to see how far away the observed private creditto-GDP ratio is from the estimated long-term value. As both the estimated long-run coefficients and the constant terms might be biased because of the possibility of a large initial undershooting followed by a steady adjustment toward equilibrium in transition economies, which is partly confirmed in Table 3, we are cautious about the use of in-sample panel estimates, i.e. about using the coefficient estimates obtained for the transition panels. However, more importantly, it is the lack of robustness of the coefficient estimates for the transition economies that prevents us from relying on the in-sample panel estimations. As Tables 3 and 4 and in the Appendix C show, there is no single equation for transition economies in which all coefficients are statistically significant and have the expected sign.²¹

To overcome this problem, we could apply the out-of sample analysis, using two groups of countries, namely emerging market economies and OECD countries. Emerging market economies might be expected to provide a natural benchmark for CEE economies. However, the fact that some of the coefficient estimates for this panel are not significant or, importantly, have the wrong sign these countries cannot be used as a benchmark. Therefore, we have experimented with a smaller panel including only small emerging markets (Chile, Israel, Peru and South Africa) which could constitute a more meaningful benchmark, given the comparability of size and GDP per capita. Yet the coefficient estimates (not reported here) do not improve as the coefficients on credit to the government, the interest rate and the spread variable are either insignificant or have the wrong sign.

As a result, we are left with the OECD panels. The baseline specification estimated by means of fixed effect OLS for small open OECD economies²² appears to be best suited, as this is the only equation where all coefficients bear the right sign and all but one are statistically significant (marked in green in Table 3).²³

 23 Given that this relationship may have undergone some changes over time, we carried out estimations for the following subperiods: 1980-2004; 1985-2004 and 1990-2004. The coefficients do not change much both in terms of size and significance with the exception of the spread variable which becomes insignificant for 1985-2004 and for 1990-2004. Therefore, the estimation obtained for the whole period seems reasonably stable and thus suitable for proceeding further with the analysis. We also carried out estimations for a panel composed of



 $^{^{21}}$ Note that the analogy with the literature on equilibrium exchange rates in transition economies ends here, given that it is possible to establish robust relationships between the real exchange rate and its most important fundamentals, such as for instance productivity (see e.g. Égert, Halpern and MacDonald, 2006).

 $^{^{22}\,\}rm{Small}$ OECD countries appear to be a reasonably useful benchmark, at least with respect to longer-term equilibrium levels. It should be noted that CEE countries have undergone a substantial convergence to small OECD countries in structural and institutional terms. As a consequence, four of these countries - the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland and Slovakia - joined the OECD in the second half of the 1990s. Likewise, the EBRD transition indicators (see EBRD 2005), the standard reference point for gauging progress with the structural and institutional change in CEE countries, show that the countries under review in this study, in particular the Central European and Baltic countries, plus Croatia, have made substantial progress towards fully-fielded market economies already in the second half of the 1990s, while gradually advancing further in more recent years.

When engaging in an out-of-sample exercise, i.e. using the coefficient estimates obtained for the small open OECD panel to derive the fitted value for transition economies, the underlying assumption is that in the long run there is parameter homogeneity between the small developed OECD panel and the transition countries. One might reasonably assume that in the long run (after adjustment toward equilibrium is completed) the behavior of transition economies will be similar to the present behavior of small OECD countries. Even though this homogeneity is fulfilled between the two samples, the estimated long-run values of the private credit-to-GDP ratio and the underlying deviation from equilibrium should be interpreted from a long-run perspective.

Given that no country-specific constant terms are available for the transition economies, the next intricate issue is how constant terms should be applied to derive the fitted values.²⁴ Our safest bet is to use the largest and the smallest constant terms (as well as the median constant term) obtained on the basis of the small OECD panel, which gives us the whole spectrum of possible estimated values for private credit.²⁵

The derived range of deviation is plotted on Chart 4. The error margin is, however, rather large. Consequently, if one considers midpoints, Croatia is now the only country which might have reached equilibrium by 2004. When looking at whole ranges, other countries, namely Bulgaria, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia and Slovenia, might have already reached equilibrium as well, while the mass of the estimated deviation was still located mostly on the undershooting side in 2004. At the same time, the upper edges of the estimated band come close to equilibrium for Hungary, Bulgaria, Poland and Slovenia. Moreover, it turns out that the initial overshooting might not have been that large for the Czech Republic and Slovakia, after all. Finally, it is interesting to see that the initial undershooting remains relatively stable for Lithuania, Poland and Romania throughout the period.

catching-up EU countries (Greece, Portugal and Spain). However, the results (not reported here) appear to be not very robust.

 $^{^{24}}$ Note that Cottarelli et al. (2005), the first paper which derives the equilibrium level of private credit for transition economies, does not address the issue of the constant terms.

 $^{^{25}}$ Another reason for selecting the baseline specification is that the variables included are all expressed in levels, which ensures that the constant terms derived on this basis have a cross-sectional meaning. For instance, the constants would not have any cross-sectional meaning if indices with a base year were used (e.g. for industrial production or house prices).

Chart 4. Deviations from Long-Run Equilibrium Credit-to-GDP, 1990 to 2004 Baltic Countries



Note: negative values indicate that the observed private credit to GDP ratio is lower than what a particular country's GDP per capita would predict ("undervaluation") Conversely, positive figures show an "overvaluation" of the private credit to GDP ratio.

6 Conclusion

In this paper, we have analyzed the equilibrium level of private credit to GDP in 11 transition economies from CEE on the basis of a number of dynamic panels containing quarterly data for transition economies, developed OECD economies and emerging markets, and relying on a framework including both factors that capture the demand for and the supply of private credit.

Credit to the public sector (crowding out/crowding in), nominal interest



rates, the inflation rate and the spread between lending and deposit rates aimed at capturing financial liberalization and competition in the banking sector turn out to be the major determinants of credit growth in the CEE-5, while GDP per capita is the only variable that enters the estimated equations in a robust manner for the Baltic and Southeastern European countries. Furthermore, we find the estimated coefficients for transition economies are much higher than those obtained for OECD and emerging market economies, which testifies to the bias caused by the initial undershooting of private credit to GDP in most countries. Another interesting result is that house prices are found to lead to an increase in private credit only in countries with high house price inflation. This finding disqualifies the house price variable from being included in the long-run equation to be used for the derivation of the equilibrium level of private credit.

We have emphasized that relying on in-sample panel estimates of the equilibrium level of private credit for transition economies is problematic not only because of the possible bias which shows up in the estimated coefficients due to the initial undershooting, but also because the equations estimated for transition economies are not sufficiently stable. To overcome these problems, we used small open OECD countries as a benchmark to derive the equilibrium level of private credit for transition economies as our intention to use the emerging markets panel as the benchmark was thwarted by the lack of robustness of the empirical results. Another reason for using the small OECD panel as a benchmark is the following. Transition economies are expected to converge in behavior to this panel in the longer run. Hence, such a panel provides us with coefficient estimates that can be used to infer equilibrium credit-to-GDP ratios which apply in the long run for transition economies.

We can draw some general conclusions with regard to undershooting and overshooting for transition economies, even though the application of the outof-sample small open OECD panel to transition economies yields a wide corridor of deviations from the equilibrium. Considering the midpoint of the estimated interval, Croatia is the only country which might have reached the equilibrium by 2004. When looking at whole ranges, the upper edges of the estimated band reached equilibrium in Bulgaria, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia and Slovenia, although the mass of the estimated deviation was still located mostly on the undershooting side in 2004. Moreover, it turns out that the initial overshooting might not have been that large for the Czech Republic and Slovakia, after all. Finally, it is interesting to see that the initial undershooting remains relatively stable for Lithuania, Poland and Romania throughout the period. Overall, our results suggest that the CEE countries cannot be generally regarded as (over)shooting stars in terms of their credit-to-GDP ratios despite robust credit growth observed in most of the countries. However, Croatia seems to outcompete the other countries in the pursuit of the title of an (over)shooting star, albeit Bulgaria, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia and Slovenia are still trying hard to fight back.

The prospects for the future are that credit growth will very likely remain rapid in CEE or to accelerate further in those countries where it is still comparatively moderate, given that the underlying factors which support private sector credit dynamics will remain at work for some time to come. As experience shows, the rapid pace of credit expansion and its persistence in a number of countries does by itself pose the risk of a deterioration of asset quality. Moreover, it exposes lenders and borrowers to risks because of an increase in unhedged foreign currency lending. Furthermore, the rapid adjustment process toward equilibrium levels may trigger demand booms, causing current account deficits to move above levels that can be sustained over a longer period of time. However, we leave it to future research to determine empirically the optimal speed of adjustment toward equilibrium that does not jeopardize macroeconomic and financial stability.

7 References

Abiad, A. and A. Mody. 2003. Financial reform: What shakes it? What shapes it? IMF Working Paper 70.

Arpa M., T. Reininger and Z. Walko. 2005. Can Banking Intermediation in the Central and Eastern European Countries ever Catch up with the Euro Area? In: Focus on European Economic Integration 2/05. Vienna: Oesterreichische Nationalbank.

Backé, P. and T. Zumer. 2005. Developments in Credit to the Private Sector in Central and Eastern European EU Member States: Emerging from Financial Repression – A Comparative Overview. In: Focus on European Economic Integration 2/05. Vienna: Oesterreichische Nationalbank.

Barisitz, S. 2005. Banking in Central and Eastern Europe since the Turn of the Millennium – An Overview of Structural Modernization in Ten Countries. In: Focus on European Economic Integration 2/05. Vienna: Oesterreichische Nationalbank.

Beck, T., R. Levine and N. Loayza. 2000. Finance and the source of growth. Journal of Finance and Economics. 58. 261-300.

Breitung, J. 2000. The Local Power of Some Unit Root Tests for Panel Data. In B. Baltagi (ed.) Advances in Econometrics. Vol. 15. Nonstationary Panels, Panel Cointegration, and Dynamic Panels. Amsterdam: JAI Press. 161-178.

Boissay, F., O. Calvo-Gonzalez and T. Kozluk. 2006. Is Lending in Central and Eastern Europe Developing too Fast? Paper presented at the conference "Finance and Consumption Workshop: Consumption and Credit in Countries with Developing Credit Markets", Florence, 16-17 June 2006

Brzoza-Brzezina, M. 2005. Lending booms in Europe's periphery: South-Western lessons for Central-Eastern members. ECB Working Paper 543.

Calvo, G. and C. Vegh. 1999. Inflation stabilization and BOP crisis in Developing Countries. Handbook of Macroeconomics. Amsterdam: North Holland Elsevier. 1531-1614.

Calza, A., C. Gartner and J. Sousa. 2001. Modelling the demand for loans to the private sector in the euro area. ECB Working Paper 55.

Calza, A., M. Manrique and J. Sousa. 2003. Aggregate loans to the euro area private sector. ECB Working Paper 202.

Coricelli, F., F. Mucci and D. Revoltella. 2006. Household Credit in the New Europe: Lending Boom or Sustainable Growth?, CEPR Discussion Papers No. 5520.

Cottarelli, C., G. Dell'Ariccia and I. Vladkova-Hollar. 2005. Early birds, late risers and sleeping beauties: Bank credit growth to the private sector in Central and Eastern Europe and in the Balkans. Journal of Banking and Finance. 29. 83–104.

Djankov, S., C. McLiesh and A. Schleifer. 2005. Private credit in 129 countries. NBER Working Paper 11078.

Duenwald, C., N. Gueorguiev, and A. Schaechter. 2005. Too much of a good thing? Credit booms in transition economies: The cases of Bulgaria, Romania, and Ukraine. IMF Working Paper 128.

Égert, B., L. Halpern and R. MacDonald. 2006. Equilibrium Exchange Rates in Transition Economies: Taking Stock of the Issues. Journal of Economic Survey. 20(2). 257-324.

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development. 2005. Transition Report. London.

European Central Bank, Task Force Enlargement. 2006. Macroeconomic and financial stability challenges for accession and candidate countries. Occasional Paper (forthcoming).

European Central Bank. 2005a. Banking structures in the new EU Member States. January. Frankfurt/Main.

European Central Bank. 2005b. EU Banking Sector Stability. October.

Favara, G. 2003. An empirical reassessment of the relationship between finance and growth. IMF Working Paper No. 123.

Gourinchas, P., R. Valdes and O. Landerretche. 2001. Lending booms: Latin America and the world. NBER Working Paper No. 8249.

Hall, S. 2001. Credit channel effects in the monetary transmission mechanism. Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin Q4. 442–448.

Hadri, K. (2000. Testing for Stationarity in Heterogeneous Panel Data. Econometric Journal. 3. 148-161.

Hilbers, P., I. Otker-Robe and C. Pazarbaşıoğlu. 2006. Going too Fast? Managing rapid credit growth in Central and Eastern Europe. IMF, Finance and Development. 43 (1).

Hofmann, B. 2001. The determinants of private sector credit in industrialised countries: Do property prices matter? BIS Working Paper 108.

Im, K. S., Pesaran, M. H., and Y. Shin. 2003. Testing for Unit Roots in Heterogeneous Panels. Journal of Econometrics. 115. 53-74.

International Monetary Fund (2005a). Global Financial Stability Report. Washington D.C. April.

International Monetary Fund (2005b). Global Financial Stability Report. Washington D.C. September.

International Monetary Fund (2006). Global Financial Stability Report. Washington D.C. April.

Kierzenkowski, R. (2004): Le canal étroit du crédit et la transmission de la politique monétaire: Analyse théorique et application au cas de la Pologne, PhD dissertation, University of Paris – Dauphine. Kiss, G. and G. Vadas. 2005. The role of the housing market in monetary transmission. National Bank of Hungary Background Study 3.

Kiss, G., M. Nagy and B. Vonnák. 2006. Credit Growth in Central and Eastern Europe: Trend, Cycle or Boom? Paper presented at the conference "Finance and Consumption Workshop: Consumption and Credit in Countries with Developing Credit Markets", Florence, 16-17 June.

Levin, A., Lin, C. F., and C. Chu. 2002. Unit Root Tests in Panel Data: Asymptotic and Finite-Sample Properties. Journal of Econometrics. 108. 1-24.

Maeso-Fernandez, F., C. Osbat and B. Schnatz. 2005. Pitfalls in estimating equilibrium exchange rates for transition economies. Economic Systems. 29(2). 130–143.

Pazarbaşıoğlu, C., G. Johnsen, I. Ötker and P. L. Ceriel. 2005. Assessing and Managing Rapid Credit Growth and the Role of Supervisory and Prudential Policies. IMF Working Paper No. 05/151.

Pesaran, M. H., Shin, Y. and R. Smith. 1999. Pooled mean group estimation of dynamic heterogeneous panels. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 94. 621–634.

Rajan, R.G. 1994. Why bank credit policies fluctuate: A theory and some evidence. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 109 (2), May. 399-441.

Rajan, R.G. and Zingales L. 2001. Financial systems, industrial structure and growth. Oxford Review of Economic Policy. 17 (4). 461-482.

Schadler, S. (ed.) 2005. Euro Adoption in Central and Eastern Europe: Opportunities and Challenges. International Monetary Fund.

Terrones, M. and E. Mendoza. 2004. Are credit booms in emerging markets a concern? IMF, World Economic Outlook, Chapter IV. 147-166.



8 Appendix

8.1 Data Appendix

8.1.1 Data Sources and Definitions

Quarterly data for bank credit to the private sector, credit to the government sector, short-term and long-term interest rate series, the consumer and producer price indices (CPI and PPI), real and nominal GDP, and industrial production are obtained from the International Financial Statistics of the IMF accessed via the database of the Austrian Institute for Economic Research (WIFO).²⁶ For some emerging markets, industrial production data is not available from this source, and hence are obtained from national data sources. Inflation is computed as a year-on-year rate ($p_t - p_{t-4}$). Lending rates are based on bank lending rates, and wherever not available, long-term government bond yields are used instead. Three-month treasury bill rates, and wherever not available, money market rates, are employed for short-term interest rates. The spread is calculated using lending (or, wherever not available, long-term government bond yields) and deposit rates.

GDP per capita expressed in PPS against the euro and the U.S. dollar is drawn from the AMECO database of the European Commission and the World Economic Indicators of the World Bank, respectively. The data start in 1975 for OECD countries and the emerging markets and in the 1990s for transition economies. The data are linearly interpolated from annual to quarterly frequencies. The financial liberalization index (from 0 to 20) reported in Abiad and Mody (2003) and used in Cottarelli et al. (2005) is used for OECD and emerging market economies. The data cover the period from 1975 to 1996 and are available for all emerging countries and for nine OECD economies, namely the large OECD countries plus Canada, Australia and New Zealand. For the transition economies, the average of the liberalization index of the banking sector and that of the financial sector provided by the EBRD from 1990 to 2004 are used (rescaled from the range 1 to 4+ to the range 0 to 20, which corresponds to the scaling used in Abiad and Mody, 2003). The data are linearly interpolated from annual to quarterly frequencies. Data for the existence of public and private credit registries are taken from Djankov et al. (2005), who provide data for 1999 and 2003. The series we use can take three values: 0 in the absence of both public and private registries; 1 if either public or private credit registries are in operation and 2 if both exist. This variable basically captures whether a change between 1999 and 2003 alters the supply of credit during this period. GDP per capita, the financial liberalization index and the registry variable are transformed to a quarterly frequency by means of linear interpolation.

House prices are not available for emerging countries and for Italy. For tran-

²⁶IFS codes: Bank credit to the private sector: lines 22d and 22g; credit to the government: lines 22a, 22b and 22c; interest rates: lines 60b, 60c, 60l, 60p and 61; CPI and PPI: lines 64 and 63; nominal GDP: lines 99b and 99b.c; real GDP: lines 99bvp and 99bvr; industrial production in industry: lines 66, 66..c and 66ey (in manufacturing).

sition economies, data could be obtained only for the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary and Lithuania. Quarterly data for the OECD economies are obtained from the Macroeconomic Database of the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) and Datastream. The source of the data is the respective central banks for the Czech Republic, France, Hungary and Lithuania and the national statistical office for Estonia.

8.1.2 The Span of the Data

Starting dates (the series end in 2004:q4 if not indicated otherwise)

Private credit (the same applies to **public credit** if not indicated otherwise in parentheses):

OECD: 1975:q1- 2004:q4;

Emerging markets: 1975:q1- 2004:q4 except for ARG: 1982:q3 (1983:q3); BR: 1988:q3 (1989:q3); INDO: 1980:q3; PE: 1984:q1 (1985:q1); TK: 1990:q1 (1987:q4)

 $\label{eq:transition} \begin{array}{l} \textit{Transition economies: HU, PL: 1990:Q4; BG, EE, SI: 1991:q4; LT: 1993:q1; \\ \textit{LV: 1993:q3; CZ, SK: 1993:q4; HR: 1993:q4 (1994:q2); EE: 1991; RO: 1996:q4. \\ \end{array}$

Spread (in parentheses for **spread2** if different):

OECD: 1975:q1 except for DE: 1977:q3; NO: 1979:q1; IE:1979:q3; FI, NE: 1981:q1; NZ: 1981:q4; ES: 1982:q1; IT: 1982:q3

 $Emerging\ markets:\ INDO,\ KO,\ PH:\ 1975:q1;\ CH,\ TH:\ 1977:q1;\ SA:\ 1977:q4;\ IND,\ ME:\ 1978:q1;\ IS:\ 1983:q1;\ PE:\ 1988:q1;\ ARG:\ 1993:q2;\ BR:\ 1997:q1;\ TK:\ not\ available$

Transition economies: HU, PL: 1990:q1; BG: 1991:q1; SI: 1991:q4; HR: 1992:q1; CZ, LT, SK: 1993:q1; EE: 1993:q2; LV: 1993:q3; RO: 1995:q4.

PPI (**CPI**, industrial production (IP), if different):

OECD: 1975:q1 except for PPI in NO, NZ: 1977:q1; BE: 1980:q1; IT: 1981:q1 Emerging markets: 1975:q1 except for ARG: 1987:q1 (1994:q1; NA); BR:
1992:q1 (1992:q1, 1991:q1); CH: 1976:q1 (1976:q1, 1975:q1); INDO: IP:1976:q1;
IS: IP not available; KO: IP: 1980:q1; PE: 1980:q1 (1980:q1, 1979:q1); PH:
1993:q1 (1975:q1, 1981:q1); TK: 1987:q1 (1987:q1, 1980:q1)

Transition economies: BG: 1991:q1; CZ: 1993:q1; HR: 1993:q1; EE: 1993:q1 (1992:q1, 1993:q1); HU: 1990:q1; LV: 1994: q1 (1992:q1,1993:q1); LT: 1993:q1; PL: 1991:q1; RO: 1992:q1; SK: 1991:q1 (1993:q1, 1990:q1); SI: 1992:q1.

Real GDP:

OECD: 1975:q1 except for BE: 1980:q1; DK, PT: 1977:q1 and NZ: 1982: q2
Emerging markets: IND, IS, KO: 1975:q1; CH, ME: 1980:q1; PE: 1979:q1;
PH: 1981:q1; TK: 1987:q1; BR: 1990:q1; ARG, INDO, TH: 1993:q1

Transition economies: SI: 1992:q1; HR, EE, LV, LT, RO, SK: 1993:q1; CZ: 1994:q1, HU, PL: 1995:q1; Data for India and Romania are linearly interpolated from annual to quarterly frequency.

All series stop in 2004:q4.

GDP per capita in PPS:

Data based on the euro for transition economies: CZ, PL, RO: 1990; BG, HU, SI: 1991; LV, LT: 1992; EE, SK: 1993; HR: 1995

Data based on the USD for transition economies: HR, HU, PL, RO: 1990; BG, EE, LV, LT, SK, SI: 1991; CZ: 1992.

Housing prices:

OECD: The starting date of the series is as follows: DK, DE, NE, SUI, UK, US: 1975:q1; JP: 1977:q1; SA: 1980:q1; FR: 1980:q4; CA: 1981:q1; FI: 1983:q1; SE: 1986:q1; AUS: 1986:q2; ES: 1987:q1, AT: 1987:q2; PT: 1988:q1; NZ: 1989:q4; IE: 1990:q1; BE, NO: 1991:q4; GR: 1994:q1. The series stop in 2004:q4.

 $\label{eq:transition} \textit{ cconomies: CZ: } 1999:q1-2004:q4; \textit{EE: } 1994:q2-2004:q4; \textit{HU: } 1991:q1-2004:q4; \textit{LT: } 2000:q1-2004:q4 \textit{ }$

8.1.3 Estimation Results

Table A3. Estimation Results – Eq2 to Eq3										
	ip	C^{G}	i ^{lending}	р ^{РРІ}	spread	gdpr	C^{G}	i ^{lending}	p ^{PPI}	spread
Large OF	ECD									
FE_OLS	0.655***	-0.206***	-0.031	-1.643***	0.013	0.557***	-0.202***	-0.055*	-1.296***	-0.026
DOLS	0.925***	0.018	0.143***	-0.635***	0.120***	0.700***	0.023	0.184***	-0.897***	0.158***
MGE	0.390	0.130	0.056	-3.480***	0.364**	0.067	0.119	-0.022	-2.406**	0.316*
Small OE	CD									
FE_OLS	0.767***	-0.115***	-0.089***	-0.888***	-0.134***	1.163***	-0.099***	0.029*	-0.334***	-0.108***
DOLS	1.113***	-0.011	0.029**	0.024	0.038**	1.272***	0.036**	0.038***	0.306***	-0.119
MGE	2.533***	0.254*	0.024	-2.903*	0.945**	2.111***	0.018	0.101	-1.169	0.458
Emerging	g market eo	conomies								
FE_OLS	0.483***	-0.097***	0.078***	-0.416***	-0.003	0.419***	-0.119***	0.097***	-0.150**	0.019
DOLS	0.589***	-0.006***	0.077***	-0.503***	-0.201***	0.729***	-0.030***	0.133***	-0.212*	-0.148***
MGE	0.502***	-0.253***	0.867	-0.333***	-0.555	0.109***	-0.089***	0.885**	-0.908**	-0.986
CEE-5										
FE_OLS	-0.105	-0.293***	-0.181***	-1.202***	-0.379***	0.639***	-0.282***	-0.086	-1.018***	-0.472***
DOLS	0.158	-0.347***	-0.050	0.848^{***}	-0.121**	0.980***	-0.109	0.089	1.012***	-0.198***
MGE	-1.088*	-0.467***	-0.830**	1.030	-1.157	0.830	0.065	-0.067***	0.056	-0.587*
B-3										
FE_OLS	1.589***	-0.004	-0.290***	0.621*	-0.463***	2.771***	0.006	0.128	0.411	-0.376***
DOLS	1.905***	-0.087	0.371***	-3.927***	0.709***	3.169***	-0.076	0.423***	-1.885***	-0.184
MGE	1.198	2.772**	-2.259	-3.632***	0.827	12.374**	1.258*	-0.757	-4.716***	-1.985
SEE										
FE_OLS	0.908***	0.096	-0.729	0.166	-1.349***	3.464***	0.129	0.308**	-1.920***	0.159
DOLS	0.973***	0.110	-0.682	0.140	-1.247***	3.464***	0.129	0.308**	-1.920***	0.159
MGE	2.174**	-0.197	0.091	-1.799	0.722	4.023***	-0.145	0.431	-2.743**	0.231
Notes:	Notes: *,** and *** indicate statistical significance at the 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels, respectively. See also Table 4.									

Table A4. Estimation Results - Eq4 to Eq5

	capita	C^{G}	i ^{short-term}	p^{PPI}	spread	capita	C^{G}	i ^{lending}	p^{CPI}	spread
Large OF	ECD									
FE OLS	0.426***	-0.202***	0.027	-0.520**	0.005	0.362***	-0.201***	0.037	-1.687***	-0.024
DOLS	0.412***	-0.002***	0.071***	0.122	0.206**	0.361***	-0.025***	0.177***	-0.681**	0.155***
MGE	0.007	0.147	0.097	-2.471**	0.288***	0.044	0.150	0.088	-2.788***	0.198**
Small OECD										
FE_OLS	0.501***	-0.177***	-0.054***	-0.173	-0.045***	0.544***	-0.157***	-0.110***	1.181***	-0.039***
DOLS	0.447***	-0.085***	-0.105***	0.741***	-0.112***	0.626***	-0.002***	-0.149***	1.645***	-0.165***
MGE	0.686***	0.045	-0.060	-0.103	0.222	0.756***	0.573*	-0.165	-1.196	-0.592
Emerging market economies										
FE_OLS	0.508***	-0.237***	0.004	0.115*	0.112***	0.485***	-0.082***	0.143***	-0.414***	0.065*
DOLS	0.621***	-0.049***	-0.089	0.319*	0.023	0.716***	-0.032***	0.041*	-0.327***	-0.018
MGE	0.426***	-0.521***	-0.360	-0.852	-1.352	0.813***	-0.034***	0.239	-1.171***	-0.176
CEE-5										
FE_OLS	0.102	-0.288***	-0.085**	-1.154***	-0.476***	0.210	-0.272***	0.005	-1.095***	-0.412***
DOLS	-0.280	-0.272***	0.040	0.211	-0.057	0.207**	-0.263***	-0.135	0.467**	-0.296***
MGE	0.019	-0.216**	-0.105***	-0.729	-0.619	-5.367*	-0.401***	-0.776***	-12.111	-3.641**
B-3										
FE_OLS	2.148***	0.021	0.217***	0.581**	-0.192**	2.611***	0.005	0.479***	-0.385*	-0.522***
DOLS	2.183***	-0.179	0.002	-1.625***	-0.337	2.018***	0.121	0.160***	-1.375***	-0.011
MGE	4.174	0.313	-0.759	-5.100**	-1.178*	-3.755	0.285	-0.344	-7.268	-0.905
SEE										
FE_OLS	0.678***	0.009	-0.354	-0.953**	-1.024***	1.217***	0.073	-0.024	0.099	-0.463***
DOLS	0.678***	0.009	-0.354	-0.953**	-1.024***	1.217***	0.073	-0.024	0.099	-0.463***
MGE	1.539***	0.284	0.058	-0.654**	-0.204	0.911**	0.548	-0.546	-0.112	0.245

Notes: See Table A3.



						1					
	capita	C^{G}	i ^{long_term}	p ^{PPI}	finlib	capita	C^{G}	i ^{long_term}	p^{PPI}	spread	reg
Large OI	ECD										
FE_OLS	0.381***	-0.285***	0.015	0.022	0.111***	0.484***	-0.174***	-0.067***	-0.165	-0.036***	0.236***
DOLS	0.435***	0.012	0.122***	-0.660***	-0.304***	0.180***	-0.006	0.059***	-0.120	0.025	0.042
MGE	0.405	0.041	0.160	-0.583***	0.084	-0.237	0.144	-0.089	-1.365	0.088	-0.064
Small OECD											
FE_OLS	0.483***	-0.088***	-0.131***	0.192	0.223***	0.484***	-0.174***	-0.067***	-0.165	-0.036***	0.236***
DOLS	2.337***	-2.619*	2.274	2.076	4.722	0.059***	0.006	0.024***	0.006	0.008	0.011
MGE	1.077	-0.283	-0.463	-0.638	0.307***	0.038	0.074	0.005	-0.209	0.024	-0.015
Emerging	g market ec	onomies									
FE_OLS	0.269***	0.069***	-0.035**	0.137***	0.302***						
DOLS	3.081***	-3.117***	2.640	-2.313***	5.679						
MGE	1.084	-1.846	-0.152**	-0.379	0.141**						
CEE-5											
FE_OLS	0.663***	-0.298***	-0.008	-1.412***	-0.985***	0.220*	-0.257***	-0.011	-1.096***	-0.208*	-0.119**
DOLS	0.906***	-0.408***	-0.121	0.698	-1.304***	0.253**	-0.068	0.222***	0.104	-0.069	-0.146***
MGE	-19.708	-1.645**	-8.252***	2.034	-4.405	0.139	0.015	0.232**	-0.183	0.001**	-0.170***
B-3											
FE_OLS	2.713***	-0.085*	0.485***	0.694**	-0.013	2.580***	0.012	0.412***	0.619**	-0.394***	0.157
DOLS	2.002***	0.123	0.135*	-1.924***	-0.041	0.439	0.254**	0.152***	-1.739**	0.017	-0.005***
MGE	2.828	0.353	-0.735***	-2.427	-0.312***	0.377	0.640*	0.500	-4.486	0.767	-0.565**
SEE											
FE_OLS	1.792***	0.053*	0.101	-0.221	-3.087***	1.919	0.182**	0.120***	0.334	-0.828***	-0.269***
DOLS	1.792***	0.053*	0.101	-0.221	-3.087***	1.919	0.182**	0.120***	0.334	-0.828***	-0.269***
MGE	2.523**	-0.432	1.600**	-1.588**	-0.160	4.965***	0.470***	1.015***	-0.907***	0.112	-0.577***
		T 1 1 1 0				•					

Table A5. Estimation Results – Equation 6 to Equation 7

Notes: See Table A3.



European Central Bank Working Paper Series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int)

- 651 "On the determinants of external imbalances and net international portfolio flows: a global perspective" by R. A. De Santis and M. Lührmann, July 2006.
- 652 "Consumer price adjustment under the microscope: Germany in a period of low inflation" by J. Hoffmann and J.-R. Kurz-Kim, July 2006.
- 653 "Acquisition versus greenfield: the impact of the mode of foreign bank entry on information and bank lending rates" by S. Claeys and C. Hainz, July 2006.
- 654 "The German block of the ESCB multi-country model" by I. Vetlov and T. Warmedinger, July 2006.
- 655 "Fiscal and monetary policy in the enlarged European Union" by S. Pogorelec, July 2006.
- 656 "Public debt and long-term interest rates: the case of Germany, Italy and the USA" by P. Paesani, R. Strauch and M. Kremer, July 2006.
- 657 "The impact of ECB monetary policy decisions and communication on the yield curve" by C. Brand, D. Buncic and J. Turunen, July 2006.
- 658 "The response of firms' investment and financing to adverse cash flow shocks: the role of bank relationships" by C. Fuss and P. Vermeulen, July 2006.
- 659 "Monetary policy rules in the pre-EMU era: Is there a common rule?" by M. Eleftheriou, D. Gerdesmeier and B. Roffia, July 2006.
- 660 "The Italian block of the ESCB multi-country model" by E. Angelini, A. D'Agostino and P. McAdam, July 2006.
- 661 "Fiscal policy in a monetary economy with capital and finite lifetime" by B. Annicchiarico, N. Giammarioli and A. Piergallini, July 2006.
- 662 "Cross-border bank contagion in Europe" by R. Gropp, M. Lo Duca and J. Vesala, July 2006.
- 663 "Monetary conservatism and fiscal policy" by K. Adam and R. M. Billi, July 2006.
- 664 "Fiscal convergence before entering the EMU" by L. Onorante, July 2006.
- 665 "The euro as invoicing currency in international trade" by A. Kamps, August 2006.
- 666 "Quantifying the impact of structural reforms" by E. Ernst, G. Gong, W. Semmler and L. Bukeviciute, August 2006.
- 667 "The behaviour of the real exchange rate: evidence from regression quantiles" by K. Nikolaou, August 2006.

- 668 "Declining valuations and equilibrium bidding in central bank refinancing operations" by C. Ewerhart, N. Cassola and N. Valla, August 2006.
- 669 "Regular adjustment: theory and evidence" by J. D. Konieczny and F. Rumler, August 2006.
- 670 "The importance of being mature: the effect of demographic maturation on global per-capita GDP" by R. Gómez and P. Hernández de Cos, August 2006.
- 671 "Business cycle synchronisation in East Asia" by F. Moneta and R. Rüffer, August 2006.
- 672 "Understanding inflation persistence: a comparison of different models" by H. Dixon and E. Kara, September 2006.
- 673 "Optimal monetary policy in the generalized Taylor economy" by E. Kara, September 2006.
- 674 "A quasi maximum likelihood approach for large approximate dynamic factor models" by C. Doz, D. Giannone and L. Reichlin, September 2006.
- 675 "Expansionary fiscal consolidations in Europe: new evidence" by A. Afonso, September 2006.
- 676 "The distribution of contract durations across firms: a unified framework for understanding and comparing dynamic wage and price setting models" by H. Dixon, September 2006.
- 677 "What drives EU banks' stock returns? Bank-level evidence using the dynamic dividend-discount model" by O. Castrén, T. Fitzpatrick and M. Sydow, September 2006.
- 678 "The geography of international portfolio flows, international CAPM and the role of monetary policy frameworks" by R. A. De Santis, September 2006.
- 679 "Monetary policy in the media" by H. Berger, M. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, September 2006.
- 680 "Comparing alternative predictors based on large-panel factor models" by A. D'Agostino and D. Giannone, October 2006.
- 681 "Regional inflation dynamics within and across euro area countries and a comparison with the US" by G. W. Beck, K. Hubrich and M. Marcellino, October 2006.
- 682 "Is reversion to PPP in euro exchange rates non-linear?" by B. Schnatz, October 2006.
- 683 "Financial integration of new EU Member States" by L. Cappiello, B. Gérard, A. Kadareja and S. Manganelli, October 2006.
- 684 "Inflation dynamics and regime shifts" by J. Lendvai, October 2006.
- 685 "Home bias in global bond and equity markets: the role of real exchange rate volatility" by M. Fidora, M. Fratzscher and C. Thimann, October 2006
- 686 "Stale information, shocks and volatility" by R. Gropp and A. Kadareja, October 2006.
- 687 "Credit growth in Central and Eastern Europe: new (over)shooting stars?" by B. Égert, P. Backé and T. Zumer, October 2006.

